

Improving the lives of people with epilepsy: a technical brief

Improving the lives of people with epilepsy:

a technical brief





Improving the lives of people with epilepsy: a technical brief

ISBN 978-92-4-006407-2 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-006408-9 (print version)

© World Health Organization 2022

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/).

Suggested citation. Improving the lives of people with epilepsy: a technical brief. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see http://apps.who.int/bookorders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see https://www.who.int/copyright.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any thirdparty-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement. The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Photos credits: Cover photo © Unsplash/Alex Radelich. Page vi photo © Unsplash/Joice Kelly. Page ix photo © Unsplash/Evgeniya Llitovchenko. Page x photo © Unsplash/Ashwini Chaudhary Monty. Page 3 photo © Unsplash/Mi Pham. Page 4 photo © Unsplash/Brett Wharton. Page 11 photo © Unsplash/Christopher Alvarenga. Page 12 photo © Unsplash/Shine Photos. Page 16 photo © Unsplash/Danny Nee. Page 23 photo © Unsplash/Cole Keister. Page 27 photo © Unsplash/Eduardo Barrios. Page 31 photo © Unsplash/Anil Sharma. Page 35 photo © Unsplash/Ashwini Chaudhary. Page 39 photo © Unsplash/Sergiu Valena. Page 43 photo © Unsplash/Zhenzhong Liu. Page 47 photo © Unsplash/Eberhard Grossgasteiger. Page 51 photo © Unsplash/Levi Meir Clancy. Page 55 photo © Unsplash/Annie Spratt. Page 59 photo © Unsplash/Z. Page 63 photo © Unsplash/Ashkan Forouzani.

Layout by Café.art.br

Contents

Acknowledgements	ix
Executive summary	vii
Introduction	1
The treatment gap for epilepsy	5
Barriers to diagnosis and treatment of epilepsy	6
Misconceptions and discrimination	7
Consequences of the treatment gap for epilepsy	9
Integrated prevention and care for epilepsy	13
Levers for change	18
Political commitment and leadership	20
Governance and policy frameworks	24
Funding and allocation of resources	28
Engagement of community and other stakeholders	32
Models of care	36
Health-care workforce	40
Medicines and other health products	44
Monitoring and evaluation	48
Research	52
Systems for improving quality of care	56
Digital technologies for health	60
References	64
Annov	70

Acknowledgements	ix
Executive summary	vii
Introduction	1
The treatment gap for epilepsy	5
Barriers to diagnosis and treatment of epilepsy	6
Misconceptions and discrimination	7
Consequences of the treatment gap for epilepsy	9
Integrated prevention and care for epilepsy	13
Levers for change	18
Political commitment and leadership	20
Governance and policy frameworks	24
Funding and allocation of resources	28
Engagement of community and other stakeholders	32
Models of care	36
Health-care workforce	40
Medicines and other health products	44
Monitoring and evaluation	48
Research	52
Systems for improving quality of care	56
Digital technologies for health	60
References	64
Annov	70



Acknowledgements

Improving the lives of people with epilepsy: a technical brief was conceptualised by Tarun Dua and Dévora Kestel, WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use.

The overall development of the brief was led by Neerja Chowdhary, WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use. The team that contributed to its writing and editing comprised of: Gergana Manolova, WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use; Batool Fatima, WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use; Gagandeep Singh, Dayanand Medical College and Hospital, India, and Archana A. Patel, Harvard Medical School, United States of America.

The following experts and people with lived experience have participated in the consultations, and/or reviewed the draft of the technical brief:

Patrick Adjei (University of Ghana Medical School, Ghana), Amza Ali (University of the West Indies, Jamaica), Albert Akpalu (University of Ghana Medical School, Ghana), Ghaieb Aljandeel (International League Against Epilepsy-Eastern Mediterranean Region, Irag), Action Amos (International Bureau for Epilepsy, Malawi), Gershim Asiki (African Population and Health Research Center, Kenya), David García Azorín (University of Valladolid, Spain), Claudio Bassetti (University of Bern, Switzerland), Edward Bertram (University of Virginia, United States), Patricia Braga (Universidad de la Republica, Uruguay), Helen Cross (University College London, United Kingdom of Great Britain and

Northern Ireland), Ding Ding (Huashan Hospital, China), Lilian Coudra (Ministry of Health, Chile), Christopher Dowrick (University of Liverpool, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland), John Dunne (Epilepsy Society of Australia, Australia), Hui Gao (Sichuan University, China), Surekha Garimella (The George Institute of Global Health, India), Wolfgang Grisold (World Federation of Neurology, Austria), Alla Guekht (Moscow Research and Clinical Center for Neuropsychiatry, Russian Federation), Tadeusz Hawrot (European Federation of Neurological Associations, Belgium), Nathalie Jetté (University of Calgary, Canada), Valentina Kahn (International Bureau for Epilepsy, Chile), Symon Kariuki (KEMRI-Wellcome Trust Research Programme, Kenya), Hoo Fan Kee (University Putra, Malaysia), Thomas Kwasa (University of Nairobi, Kenya), Shichuo Li (China Association Against Epilepsy, China), Nina Mago (International Bureau for Epilepsy, Uganda), William Matuja (Muhimbili University of Health and Allied Sciences, United Republic of Tanzania), Pallab Maulik (The George Institute for Global Health, India), Charles Newton (University of Oxford, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland), San Oo (Yangon General Hospital, Myanmar), Emilio Perucca (The University of Melbourne, Australia), Usha Raman (University of Hyderabad, India), Jacopo Rovarini (Amref Health Africa, South Sudan), Mary Secco (International Bureau for Epilepsy, Canada), Arjune Sen (University of Oxford, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland), Mamta Bhushan Singh (All

India Institute of Medical Sciences, India), Kiran Thakur (Columbia University Irving Medical Center, United States of America, Chahnez Charfi Triki (Hedi Chaker Hospital, Sfax medical school, University of Sfax Tunisia), Eugen Trinka (Paracelsus Medical University Salzburg, Austria), Matthew Walker (University College London, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland), Richard Walker (Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland), Donna Walsh (International Bureau for Epilepsy, Ireland), Tamara Welte (Universitätsklinikum Erlangen, Germany), Samuel Wiebe (University of Calgary, Canada), Jo Wilmshurst (Red Cross Children's Hospital, South Africa), Andrea Sylvia Winkler (Center for Global Health at the Technical University of Munich, Germany), Sebastian Winter (International Bureau for Epilepsy, Germany).

Valuable technical inputs were received from the following WHO colleagues at headquarters, in regional and country offices:

Bernadette Abela-Ridder (Vet. Public Health, Vector Control and Environment), Onvema Ajuebor (Health Workforce), Aemal Akhtar (Mental Health), Pedro Alonso (Global Malaria Programme), Wole Ameyan (Testing, Prevention and Populations), Rajiv Bahl (Newborn Health), Florence Baingana (Regional Office for Africa), Shannon Barkley (Special Programme on Primary Health Care), Faten Ben Abdelaziz (Enhanced Wellbeing), Andrea Bosman (Global Malaria Programme), Marie-charlotte Bouesseau (Integrated Health Services), Elaine Brohan (Brain Health), Richard Brown (Chemical Safety and Health), Marie Noël Bruné Drisse (Chemical Safety and Health), Fiona Bull (More Physical Activity), Bernadette Cappello (Access to Medicines and Health Products), Rodrigo Cataldi (Brain Health), Vanessa Cavallera (Brain Health), Claudina Cayetano (Regional Office for the Americas), Daniel Chisholm (Mental Health and Substance Use), Alarcos Cieza (Sensory Functions, Disability and Rehabilitation),

Giorgio Cometto (Policies and Standards), Bernadette M.E.G. Daelmans (Life Course), Chencho Dorji (Regional Office for South-East Asia), Alexandra Fleischmann (Alcohol, Drugs and Addictive Behaviours), John Fogarty (Clinical Services and Systems), Nathalie Jane Drew Bold (Policy, Law and Human Rights), Sumbal Gilani (Country Office for Pakistan), Brandon Gray (Mental Health), Joanna Janet Pares Hoare (Mental Health), Kaloyan Kamenov (Sensory Functions, Disability and Rehabilitation), Shahzad Alam Khan (Country Office for Pakistan), Jonathan King (Prevention, Treatment and Care of NTD), Dzmitry Krupchanka (Alcohol, Drugs and Addictive Behaviours), Ledia Lazeri (Regional Office for Europe), Alana Margaret Officer (Demographic Change and Healthy Ageing), Renato Oliveira e Souza (Regional Office for the Americas), Clive Ondari (Health Product Policy and Standards), Shanthi Narayan Pal (Pharmacovigilance), Vladimir Poznyak (Alcohol, Drugs and Addictive Behaviours), Marie-pierre Preziosi (Agenda, Policy and Strategy), Teri Reynolds (Clinical Services and Systems), Patricia Robertson (Policy, Law and Human Rights), Juan Pablo Peña Rosas (Nutrition and Food Safety), Ritu Sadana (Ageing and Health), Khalid Saeed (Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean), Alison Schafer (Mental Health and Substance Use), Nicoline Schiess (Brain Health), Katrin Seeher (Brain Health), Chiara Servili (Brain Health), Slim Slama (NCD Management-Screening, Diagnosis and Treatment), Yuka Sumi (Ageing and Health), Edith van 'T Hof (Mental Health), Martin Vandendyck (Regional Office for the Western Pacific), Cherian Varghese (Regional Office for South-East Asia), Marco Antonio De Avila Vitoria (Treatment, Care and Service Delivery), Inka Weissbecker (Mental Health), Wilson Milton Were (Child Health and Development), Matteo Zignol (TB Prevention, Diagnosis, Treatment, Care and Innovation).

WHO gratefully acknowledges the financial support from the International League Against Epilepsy (ILAE).



Executive summary

Epilepsy, a disorder that manifests as recurrent seizures, has significant neurobiological, cognitive, social and economic consequences for individuals, communities and countries. More than 50 million people worldwide have epilepsy. People with epilepsy are about three times more likely to die than the general population, and an estimated 125 000 deaths per year globally are related to the condition. There are significant gaps in the provision of care for epilepsy around the world. Lack of diagnosis and care prevents people with epilepsy from realizing their full potential and poses a significant burden to countries' economic, health and social systems. Low- and middle-income countries are disproportionately affected.

The burden of untreated epilepsy can be reduced in several ways. Up to 70% of people with epilepsy could become seizurefree after appropriate diagnosis and with antiseizure medicines. They could lead productive lives and contribute fully to their societies. About one fourth of all cases of epilepsy could be prevented with greater attention and interventions by health systems, such as in perinatal risk, traumatic brain injuries, stroke and central nervous system infections. The stigmatization and discrimination experienced by people with epilepsy and their families can be countered by raising awareness in communities and ensuring respect for human rights in policy and practice. Evidence and tools are available to improve the knowledge of primary care health workers about epilepsy, which would increase access to diagnosis and treatment.



>50 million people worldwide have epilepsy

The Intersectoral global action plan on epilepsy and other neurological disorders (2022-2031) was adopted in 2022 by the World Health Assembly Continuous supply of antiseizure medicines is necessary to ensure people with epilepsy receive the treatment they need. The voices of people with epilepsy and their families and carers should be heard to guide person-centred care that responds to their needs and results in better, healthier societies.

The Intersectoral global action plan on epilepsy and other neurological disorders (2022-2031), adopted in 2022 by the World Health Assembly, gives a fresh impetus to the work to reduce the burden and improve the lives of people with epilepsy. The plan is based on a multisectoral approach, in which various sectors of society such as health, social protection, labour and education work together to provide integrated care for people with neurological disorders throughout their life, ensuring their health and dignity. This technical brief describes the actions that are necessary to implement the approach, with levers to channel this change. National and local governments, policy-makers and programme managers across various sectors at national and local levels can conduct the proposed actions to restructure and strengthen their services for people with epilepsy. The levers and corresponding actions and resources will also be useful in planning and programming by civil society groups, professional associations, academic institutions, organizations of people with epilepsy and their families and carers, development partners, and global and national funding initiatives. Each country can customize its multisectoral approach to epilepsy according to the setting and its priorities to achieve significant gains for its society and improve the lives of people with epilepsy.







Introduction

Epilepsy is a neurological disorder characterized by an enduring predisposition to recurrent seizures. The condition also has neurobiological, psychological, cognitive, social and economic consequences (1). More than 50 million people worldwide have epilepsy (2), with point prevalence of 6.38 persons with active epilepsy per every 1000, and 7.6 people per every 1000 will have epilepsy at some point in their life. Epilepsy ranks fifth among all neurological causes for disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) (3), disproportionately affecting low- and middle-income countries (LMIC) (3,4). Worldwide, an estimated 125 000 deaths each year are related to epilepsy (2), and more than 80% of all deaths due to epilepsy are reported from LMIC. The risk of premature death for people with epilepsy is estimated to be three times that of the general population (5), but this risk may be up to seven times higher in some low-resource settings (6-8). Many neurological and psychiatric disorders co-occur with epilepsy (9). Seizures after stroke or traumatic brain injury can drastically increase the mortality and burden of these conditions (10).

Epilepsy affects not only people with the condition but also their families and carers, through a range of significant personal, social, ecological, economic and policy issues that are directly or indirectly linked to the condition. It imposes direct costs on individuals and society due to the expense of health care and social services for assessment, treatment and rehabilitation and also creates indirect costs for disabling complications and premature mortality, which prevent people from reaching their full potential in school, employment or household activities. Stigmatization of people with epilepsy, their families and carers imposes a great social cost on them, denying them life opportunities and causing suffering.



Epilepsy ranks fifth among all neurological causes for disabilityadjusted life years, disproportionately affecting low- and middle-income countries



Up to 70% of people with epilepsy could become seizurefree after appropriate diagnosis and antiseizure medicines Up to 70% of people with epilepsy could become seizure-free after appropriate diagnosis and antiseizure medicines, which can cost as little as US\$ 5 per year, and could lead full, productive lives (11). Treatment of epilepsy can be very cost-effective, contributing to reducing the economic burden of the disorder (12). Despite this evidence, there is a treatment gap for epilepsy which means that more than 50% of people with epilepsy in most LMIC do not receive the treatment they need.

In determining the measures necessary to reduce the global burden of epilepsy, consideration should also be given to the potentially preventable causes of certain types of epilepsy, which account for roughly one fourth of all epilepsy cases. They include perinatal risk factors, traumatic brain injuries, stroke and central nervous system infections *(13)*. These causes disproportionately affect people in LMIC.

Tackling epilepsy requires a multi-stakeholder approach at national and local levels, which considers epilepsy from a life-course perspective. Governments, policy-makers, academia, health-care professionals, private sector establishments, people with epilepsy and the public at large must come together to decrease the burden of this condition.

This document provides strategic actions for the development and implementation of epilepsy-related policies and programmes. Through the systems approach defined by the *Operational framework for primary health care* issued jointly by WHO and the United Nations Children's Fund (14), 11 levers for change are outlined that would have the greatest impact in reducing the epilepsy burden at country and community levels. A WHO steering group was convened to ensure a multisectoral approach and guide the development of the brief. Expert consultations were held with epilepsy researchers, health professionals, representatives of civil society organizations and people with lived experience from all over the world. Input from the expert consultations was incorporated into the draft of the brief, which was then further reviewed by external experts and WHO steering group members to refine its contents.

The technical brief is intended for a broad range of stakeholders. Governments, policy-makers and programme managers in ministries of health, social protection, education, human rights and other sectors at national and local levels can implement the proposed actions to restructure and strengthen their approach and services. The levers and corresponding actions will also be useful in planning and programming by civil society groups, professional associations, academic institutions, organizations of people with epilepsy and their families and carers, development partners, and global and national funding initiatives.





The treatment gap for epilepsy

Many people with epilepsy do not receive the necessary treatment to control their seizures, and the gap varies drastically globally, exceeding 75% in most low-income countries and 50% in most middle-income countries (*15, 16*). This gap results from a combination of lack of capacity in health-care systems, inequitable distribution of resources, a low priority accorded to epilepsy care and insufficient care-seeking behaviour due to lack of awareness and/or stigmatization. Lack of appropriate treatment further complicates the social and economic burden of epilepsy.





The treatment gap for epilepsy exceeds 75% in most low-income countries and 50% in most middle-income countries

Barriers to diagnosis and treatment of epilepsy

A number of structural factors limit diagnosis of epilepsy and lead to the treatment gap (15, 17). These factors may vary by setting; however, uneven provision of health services due to lack of resources, poor access to knowledgeable health workers and to medicines and complicating comorbid conditions are global concerns.

- There is a shortage of neurologists globally, but particularly in LMIC. Within countries, the shortage is more pronounced in rural and remote areas. The WHO Neurology Atlas 2017 provides estimates of 0.03 neurologists per 100 000 population in LMIC and 4.74 per 100 000 population in highincome countries (HIC), and only 23% of countries worldwide had neurologists in rural areas (18). In these areas, people with epilepsy are commonly treated by primary health-care providers and community health workers, who may not have the necessary knowledge and skills about epilepsy to provide immediate and long-term care (19). Misconceptions about the possibility of treating epilepsy successfully at primary healthcare level compound the problem.
- Geographical barriers, particularly distance from health facilities, prevent many people from seeking treatment for epilepsy (20). Additionally, the misconception that epilepsy is transmissible by contact affects the provision of first aid for seizures (21). Such barriers can be reduced by raising awareness of epilepsy and its management in communities and among local health-care providers, strengthening clinical networks and access to telehealth and ensuring a reliable supply of antiseizure medication.
- Traditional and faith healers are frequently the first contact for affected people in many LMIC; however, their knowledge and beliefs regarding the origins and treatment of epilepsy vary widely, which often results in incorrect or very delayed diagnosis and treatment (22).
- Lack of diagnostic technologies such as electroencephalography (EEG) in many LMIC creates a perceived barrier to establishing a diagnosis of epilepsy. Most cases of epilepsy can, however, be diagnosed and managed without resort to sophisticated investigations, and the lack of such means should not limit scaling up of care by primary care providers in rural settings.

- Poor access to antiseizure medicines severely constrains the provision of good-quality, uninterrupted care for epilepsy, which may result in breakthrough seizures and poor seizure control, reducing the quality of life of those affected (23). According to a report by WHO/Health Action International of a survey of 46 countries, less than half of all pharmacy outlets had stocks of a single antiseizure medication of those on the WHO list of essential medicines (24). Regulatory issues, supply chain interruptions, lack of storage facilities and variation in the prescribing patterns of physicians constrain continuous availability of affordable, quality antiseizure medications. In some countries, erratic supplies and circulation of substandard or counterfeit products also limit care.
- Roughly half of all people with epilepsy also have other physical or mental health conditions (25), which are associated with poorer health outcomes, increased health-care needs, decreased quality of life and greater social exclusion (26). The most prevalent comorbid mental health conditions are depression (23%) and anxiety (20%), which exacerbate seizures, reduce quality of life and increase social and economic exclusion. Children with epilepsy experience high rates of behavioural and cognitive comorbidity (27,28).

Misconceptions and discrimination

People living with epilepsy face devastating social consequences, including stigmatization, discrimination and violations of their human rights. Negative attitudes, myths and false beliefs prevent many from seeking treatment. Misconceptions about the cause, the genetics and characteristics of epilepsy have historically influenced public attitudes and led to practices such as sterilization, interdiction of marriage and social isolation of people with epilepsy (29). These forms of discrimination may be institutionalized in legislation. In addition, people with epilepsy are at increased risk of sexual violence and unplanned pregnancy. People with epilepsy frequently face barriers to education and employment and are ostracized due to inaccurate beliefs about how epilepsy is acquired (30, 31). They are also less likely to marry and face discrimination due to unfounded beliefs about heritable transmission to offspring and the perception

that they will not be able to fulfil their family roles (30,32-35). They are at increased risk of sexual violence and abuse (36).



Roughly half of all people with epilepsy also have other physical or mental health conditions. The most prevalent comorbid mental health conditions are depression and anxiety



Stigmatization of people with epilepsy contributes significantly to poorer mental health and quality of life, factors that are often felt more acutely than the effects of the seizures themselves

Institutional stigmatization, such as discriminatory legislation pertaining to driving, education, employment and marriage, may prevent people with epilepsy from fully participating in social and community life (37). Family members of people with epilepsy may also experience stigmatization and discrimination, reducing their quality of life (38).

- Stigmatizing experiences strongly affect the psychological well-being and the quality of life of people with epilepsy and their families, as seen in many settings worldwide (39-41). Stigmatization of people with epilepsy contributes significantly to poorer mental health and quality of life, factors that are often felt more acutely than the effects of the seizures themselves (42,43). In many settings, no consideration is given of the psychosocial aspects of epilepsy care or empowerment for self-care to support the person and family. Psychological treatment such as family counselling, cognitive behavioural therapy and relaxation techniques can be provided as adjunctive treatment to people with epilepsy (44, 45).
- People with epilepsy and their families and carers should also be informed how to render first aid, which activities are possible and recommended for a healthy lifestyle and which ones should be avoided, and how to identify safety risks and manage seizure triggers as part of the self-management of epilepsy. Such approaches must be adapted for different age groups over the life course to reflect their needs.
- A comprehensive approach to addressing stigmatization and discrimination includes not only programmes for stigma reduction and raising awareness in society and communities, but also a review of legislation, policies and institutional practices, health promotion for delivery of first aid and advocacy for social inclusion.

Consequences of the treatment gap for epilepsy

Epilepsy is associated with other health consequences (see Box 1), which are exacerbated if the disorder is not treated.

BOX 1. The consequences of epilepsy



People with epilepsy are at increased risk of:

- road traffic accidents
- hospitalization for seizures or status epilepticus

- and personal relationships
- being victims of sexual violence and abuse
- humanitarian crises.

They also face reduced prospects of:

- marrying or sustaining relationships (30, 53)
- securing employment (30)
- obtaining a driving licence (11).





Injury, drowning or suffering from burns as a result of seizures (46)

sudden unexpected death (known as SUDEP) (47, 48)

depression, suicide and other mental health conditions (49-51)

neurological, cardiovascular and respiratory disorders (52)

• socio-economic marginalization, which affects professional status

malnutrition, particularly during food insecurity and other

completing schooling and accessing higher education (30)



Studies indicate that the incidence of epilepsy is up to four times higher in the most socioeconomically deprived sections of the population Existing inequities in socioeconomic status, place of residence and other characteristics make some groups more affected by epilepsy than others. Studies in HIC indicate that the incidence of epilepsy is up to four times higher in the most socioeconomically deprived sections of the population, and this is likely to be exacerbated by gender, ethnicity, rural residence, and other indicators of vulnerability (*31*). Lower socioeconomic status is related to poor access to health services, inadequate awareness of medical care and infrequent outpatient clinic visits (*54*). The incidence and prevalence of epilepsy are higher and the treatment gap twice as high in rural than in urban communities (*14,55*).

The association between epilepsy and socioeconomic deprivation is bidirectional: health-care spending by people with epilepsy and their families, often out of pocket in many LMIC, can result in financial hardship and poverty. People with epilepsy tend to have lower income and poorer education and health outcomes than the general population, factors which affect them throughout their whole lives (*56, 57*). Inequities undermine good health and well-being, the quality of education and opportunities for work for many people with epilepsy and their families. Legislation protecting the rights of people with epilepsy is essential.







Integrated prevention and care for epilepsy

Epilepsy is a complex chronic condition that typically requires long-term management, and people with epilepsy and their families have various, dynamically changing needs that extend beyond health. Therefore, a number of sectors - most importantly, health, social and educational services – must coordinate to meet their needs for an optimal quality of life. Holistic care for epilepsy requires integrated, people-centered care to address the disorder and any comorbid conditions. A multisectoral response, based on the perspectives of people with epilepsy and their families, will provide the structural conditions necessary for successful care. These include strategic planning, human and financial resources, a regulatory framework, a functioning health system, legislation that ensures respect for human rights and constant feedback from people with epilepsy and their families. In addition, prevention through public health interventions is key to reducing the burden of new cases of epilepsy.

Reduction of the epilepsy treatment gap and of inequities will contribute to alleviating the economic and social consequences of epilepsy (58). Existing tools and campaigns have been mobilizing resources at the global level. The Global Campaign Against Epilepsy, spearheaded by WHO, the International League Against Epilepsy (ILAE) and the International Bureau for Epilepsy (IBE), has been working since 1997 to raise public and professional awareness of epilepsy and to encourage governments to address the needs of people with epilepsy, including awareness, education, diagnosis, care and prevention (59).



Health, social and educational services must coordinate to meet the needs of people with epilepsy and their families The first global report on epilepsy produced by WHO and partners in 2019 summarized available evidence and provided guidance to governments, policy-makers and stakeholders on how to reduce the burden of epilepsy under the universal health coverage agenda (11).

About one fourth of all epilepsy cases can be prevented by public health measures. Perinatal risk factors, traumatic brain injury, stroke and central nervous system infections are the four risk factors amenable to primary prevention (see Box 2). Thus, addressing these factors will reduce the burden and economic impact of epilepsy, prevent morbidity and save health system resources.

BOX 2. Opportunities for prevention of epilepsy

- About 15% of cases of epilepsy in children in HIC and 17% in LMIC can be attributed to perinatal causes. The risk factors are low gestational age at delivery, low birth weight, poor maternal nutritional status or pre-eclampsia, lack of skilled birth attendants, inadequate method of delivery, perinatal infection (e.g., HIV), and other adverse events and conditions (11). Adequate pre- and perinatal care and obstetrical services can reduce the number of new cases of epilepsy.
- Traumatic brain injury is the cause of epilepsy in 4% of cases in LMIC and 5% of cases in HIC (11). Common causes of such injury are road accidents, falls and violence, including intimate partner violence (60). Increasing public awareness and improving social and infrastructural conditions can mitigate this risk factor for epilepsy.
- Population-based studies have identified stroke as a common cause of epilepsy (12–40% in HIC, 5–15% in LMIC) (11). Epilepsy associated with stroke can be prevented by health promotion in primary health care for reducing cardiovascular risk factors such as high blood pressure, diabetes and obesity and avoidance of tobacco and excessive alcohol use.
- Although many central nervous system infections are preventable, 2–3% of all epilepsies in HIC and about 5% of epilepsies in LMIC are caused by such infections, which include bacterial meningitis and viral encephalitis, neurocysticercosis (caused by Taenia solium [pork tapeworm]) and cerebral malaria (61). Programmes for the control of communicable disease should target these conditions in areas in which they are endemic.



Use of the mhGAP intervention guide facilitates diagnosis and improves the knowledge and confidence of health-care workers

The WHO Mental health gap action program (mhGAP) facilitates diagnosis and integrated management of a range of mental, neurological and substance use conditions in non-specialized care, and epilepsy is identified as a priority (62). Use of the mhGAP intervention guide facilitates diagnosis and treatment by non-specialist health-care professionals and improves the knowledge, attitudes and confidence of health-care workers (63) and the quality of life of people with lived experience by alleviating their symptoms. Initiatives to reduce the treatment gap have demonstrated potential in improving the lives of people with epilepsy by shifting care to the primary health workers and equipping them with the necessary skills to diagnose and treat epilepsy, improving access and raising awareness within communities (see Box 3).

BOX 3.

Successful task-shifting programmes for epilepsy

Country-level initiatives for responding to the epilepsy treatment gap show that significant gains can be achieved. In the "Fight against epilepsy" initiative of the Ministry of Health of Ghana, in collaboration with WHO, management and care for epilepsy in the community increased from 15% to 38% after training primary health-care workers and community volunteers, raising awareness and strengthening monitoring and evaluation (64). In the Myanmar Epilepsy Initiative, these activities increased community coverage from 2% at baseline to 47% (65). The Mozambique Epilepsy Initiative benefited a population of over 2 million, improved monitoring and evaluation of epilepsy indicators in the health information system and resulted in the launching of a national epilepsy plan to train all psychiatry technicians in the country by 2022. In a pilot project in Viet Nam, training of village health workers to identify people with epilepsy, primary care providers to diagnose and treat people with epilepsy and specialists to supervise them reduced the gap in treatment of epilepsy by 39% over 4 years.





The Intersectoral global action plan on epilepsy and other neurological disorders (2022-2031), adopted by the World Health Assembly in May 2022, is based on the principles of universal health coverage. It charts a comprehensive pathway to prioritizing epilepsy care by governments, increasing access to high-quality care and medicines, investment in epilepsy research and social programmes for people with epilepsy (66). The plan identifies actions to be taken by policy-makers, professionals, researchers, advocates and communities to tackle the global burden of neurological disorders. The plan also highlights the priority of epilepsy care in the public health agenda and creates entry points for other neurological disorders.

The comprehensive response proposed by the Intersectoral global action plan on epilepsy and other neurological disorders reflects a "whole-of-society", multi-stakeholder approach throughout the life-course. With concrete actions, clear, measurable indicators and the commitment of national and international stakeholders, great advances can be made in preventing epilepsy, delivering appropriate treatment and care and reducing the burden of the condition for individuals and their families and communities. The approaches should be adapted to country-specific needs. Inequities should be fully addressed, particularly in relation to gender, rural-urban residence and economic levels. Policies should ensure that systems are orientated towards personcentred care and meeting the priorities of people with epilepsy by promoting partnerships, investment and innovation. Other relevant international commitments that have been undertaken through adoption of World Health Assembly and United Nations General Assembly resolutions are listed in Annex 1.

The Intersectoral global action plan emphasizes primary health care and community approaches to increase access to treatment throughout settings and make the most of available resources. WHO differentiates **primary health care**, an approach to health systems that maximizes equity, efficiency and effectiveness through integrated health services (centred on primary care and public health functions), multisectoral policy and action and empowered people and communities, from **primary care**, which is first-contact health services that are people-centred, continuous, comprehensive and coordinated (14). While primary care is a core component of integrated health services and, therefore, the primary health care approach, strengthening primary care is insufficient to drive health system transformation toward universal health coverage and the other health-related Sustainable Development Goals, leaving no one behind.

integrated prevention and care for epilepsy



Levers for change



The levers and related actions are not independent but are interconnected. All are essential to an integrated national response to epilepsy This section uses the expertise of the *Operational framework for primary health care (14)*, which proposes ways to strengthen health systems and demonstrably improve health for all. Specific actions for tackling epilepsy are listed below. The actions and interventions are grouped into "levers", as defined in the framework. The levers address the challenges to the epilepsy response that have been identified in the section above (**Figure 1**). They extend beyond primary health care setting in recognition of the multisectoral and life-course approach required for a disorder that has repercussions in many areas of life.

Countries vary in the level of provision of epilepsy services. Political, cultural and social contexts also vary and have significant effect on the availability and access to epilepsy services for different populations. Therefore it is necessary to prioritize the actions listed below, taking into consideration local needs. When possible, they should be planned and executed with broad engagement of all sectors of society, including the government, nongovernmental organizations and the private sector. Importantly, the perspectives and rights of people with epilepsy and their families and carers should be included in all activities.

The levers and related actions are not independent but are interconnected. All are essential to an integrated national response to epilepsy to achieve the objectives of the *Intersectoral* global action plan on epilepsy and other neurological disorders (66).

The actions in each lever are described at policy and operational levels. Policy actions lay the groundwork for regulation, strategies and long-term decisions, while the operational actions are central to planning fieldwork and delivering care and support. Each lever has a consistent structure comprised of a narrative description, actions that can be applied at policy and operational levels, and tools and resources that facilitate actions for the lever. A brief case study for each lever showcases how interventions at this lever can enhance national approaches to epilepsy.

FIGURE 1. Levers for change



Political commitment and leadership

This lever addresses the political engagement of decision-makers and other stakeholders to raise the profile of epilepsy prevention, treatment and care, in recognition of the importance of commitment and leadership for tackling epilepsy and the need for champions, training in advocacy and creating the right conditions for continuity of political effort.

Implementers

Political leaders, government, civil society including advocacy organizations and organizations of people with epilepsy.

Policy level

- Generate commitment of policy-makers to work with wide representation of people with epilepsy and their families and carers, health-care providers and community members such as traditional healers.
- Establish national and regional collaboration for professional and policy-making bodies and civil society and create links between government, nongovernmental organizations and organizations representing people with epilepsy.
- Strengthen political commitment to enact and implement laws to protect people with epilepsy and eliminate stigmatization and discrimination.
- Advocate for use of an integrated life-course approach to generate political commitment by ministries and other institutions.

Operational level

- Proactively include people with epilepsy in advocacy for political commitment and change.
- Train advocates and champions for epilepsy in health diplomacy so that they can communicate with government and train community leaders, religious leaders and opinion leaders.
- Build a network of leaders in academia, communities and local institutions to ensure continuity in working with the government on sustainable initiatives for epilepsy.
- Establish dialogue outside health system structures, particularly with the education and labour sectors, to increase their sensitivity and ensure a comprehensive approach to epilepsy.
- Build platforms to foster dialogue, exchange of knowledge, coordinated action and sharing of best practices among advocates for epilepsy care.

Resources

- Epilepsy: a public health imperative (11)
- Intersectoral global action plan on epilepsy and other neurological disorders (2022-2031) (66)
- Towards a dementia plan: a WHO guide (67)

Political commitment and leadership: case study

Domesticating the Intersectoral global action plan on epilepsy and other neurological disorders in Eswatini

In Eswatini, the objectives of the Intersectoral global action plan on epilepsy and other neurological disorders are being integrated into the national policy framework and strategies. Within the IGAP Trendsetter project, the Eswatini Epilepsy Organization is reviewing institutional capacity, creating strategic partnerships and advocating for better policy and legislative environments for people with epilepsy. The Organization conducted a stakeholder analysis, developed a management plan to adopt the Intersectoral global action plan, together with advocates, and convened a technical working group to develop a national plan of action. Workshops have been held with partner organizations and government agencies to increase awareness of epilepsy and to present evidence in schools, communities and clinics. The Organization engages with legislators to gain their support for filling the gaps in policy and legislation for epilepsy care (68).

Under this lever, governance structure, legislation, regulations and policy frameworks are considered for all systems and sectors for a holistic approach to addressing epilepsy. The approach emphasizes coordinated action, respect for human rights, policies specifically for epilepsy and mechanisms for their implementation and monitoring.

Implementers

Government representatives in health, social support, education, labour, disability and human rights, and organizations of people with epilepsy.

Policy level

- Engage broad group of government stakeholders beyond health, especially in civil affairs, education, labour, organizations of people with disabilities, societies for epilepsy and similar entities.
- Provide a road map for addressing epilepsy that contains mechanisms for effective oversight, actions for change and building coalitions of people and organizations working on epilepsy.
- Mainstream policies to support people with epilepsy, their families and carers in the health, social, economic, educational, labour, recreational and legal systems.
- Establish a mechanism to ensure consistent, accessible recourse against acts of exclusion and violations of human rights at all levels.

Operational level

- Revise policies on health and particularly mental health and noncommunicable diseases equity, human rights, minority status and socioeconomic status.
- Review and update regulation and policies to support people with disabilities, in particular epilepsy, including integrative schooling, employment regulations and social benefits.
- Remove restrictions on full participation of people with epilepsy in society, such as marrying, obtaining a driving license, attending educational institutions.
- Embed activities on prevention of epilepsy and promotion of brain health in sectors such as the health system, education, employment and labour, sports and law enforcement.

Resources

- Intersectoral global action plan on epilepsy and other neurological disorders (2022-2031) (66)
- Nothing for us, without us: opportunities for meaningful engagement of people living with NCDs (69)

Θ

to include care for people with epilepsy, and address cross-cutting issues, such as gender

Policy response in El Salvador: development of national guidelines for epilepsy care

The aim of the team working on the guidelines is to improve the government supply of antiseizure medicines El Salvador is developing national guidelines for epilepsy care in order to address what neurologists estimate to be a treatment gap of 60% to 70%. A collaboration was established by the National Epilepsy Commission of the Ministry of Health and the local chapter of the International League Against Epilepsy to produce the guidelines, whose goal was to create a robust referral framework. This includes referral of complex cases – such as women who are pregnant and people with mental health conditions – to appropriate levels of care.

Validation and integration of the guidelines improved the knowledge of physicians. Further work will be conducted to teach them what epilepsy is, how to differentiate people at high risk and how to refer them to specialist care. Few statistics are available on the incidence and prevalence of epilepsy in El Salvador. The next goal is therefore to establish standardized diagnostic criteria for better care protocols and medication protocols. The aim of the team working on the guidelines is to improve the government supply of antiseizure medicines to ensure regular stocks, wider choice and more information for physicians on how to use them (70).

Funding and allocation of resources

Actions in this lever are intended to ensure sustainable, efficient funding for diagnosis, treatment, research and advocacy for epilepsy in universal health coverage packages, increase social protection for people with epilepsy, provide a platform and incentives for high-quality care and prevent financial hardship. The actions required to increase financing for epilepsy will vary considerably depending on both a country's starting point and local, political and economic considerations.

Implementers

Ministers of Finance, finance managers and planners, health-care funding managers.

Policy level

- Create a dedicated governmental budgetary allocation for epilepsy and provide consistent funding for epilepsy care for hard-to-reach populations.
- Explore other funding mechanisms for epilepsy, such as frameworks for funding noncommunicable diseases, and encourage development of other sustainable models.
- Fully include epilepsy diagnosis and treatment in benefits package for universal health coverage.
- Ensure disability allowances are commensurate with the cost of living in social protection mechanisms for people with epilepsy, their carers and family members.

Operational level

- Assess the national need on tackling epilepsy, allocate sustainable resources, and review spending regularly to increase efficiency of funds spent and avoid loss of monies.
- Identify or generate evidence for investment in epilepsy prevention, promotion and treatment to drive change and justify resource allocation to improve care.
- Include financial considerations of emergency care and medical supplies for people with epilepsy in humanitarian response plans.
- Prioritize and allocate effciently funding to support organizations and advocacy groups for epilepsy.
- Ensure that people with epilepsy are aware of the available support and receive all the financial and substantive assistance, benefits and institutional support to which they are entitled.

Resources

- One Health Tool (71)
- A system-wide approach to analysing efficiency across health programmes (71)
- Universal Health Coverage Compendium (73)
- WHO-CHOICE (74)
- Mental health investment case: a guidance note (75)

Epilepsy prevention can reduce public health expenses: birth interventions in India

The aim of the PREVENT study in South India is to determine whether improved care during labour can reduce perinatal brain injury and prevent the incidence of epilepsy, thus reducing the high economic burden of epilepsy in India, where 12 million people have the condition. About 20% of infants with birthrelated brain injury will develop epilepsy during early childhood. The interventions proposed include birth companions for women in labour, fetal surveillance during active labour, and brain-oriented early newborn care. This optimized care bundle is planned to be delivered to 80 000 women in participating hospitals over 2 years. If the results show that it is effective, it can be included into the national "Labour room quality improvement" programme. It could avert about 50,000 cases of epilepsy in India every year, reducing public health expenses and ensuring future contributions to the economy. The study is led by an international team of experts in neonatal brain injury, neuroimaging, midwifery, epilepsy, and qualitative research, with representatives of parents and community leaders (76).

Engagement of community and other stakeholders

The intention of this lever is to ensure engagement of a wide range of stakeholders, mobilize society and organizations to understand the problems, define solutions, change attitudes, create networks, provide support, raise awareness and reduce stigmatization of people with epilepsy. The main mechanisms to be used are advocacy in the community, raising awareness about epilepsy, dispelling prejudice, building capacity for community support of people with epilepsy and providing information about the available services and mechanisms of support.

Implementers

Policy-makers, health promotion managers and planners, organizations of people with epilepsy and their families, community organizations, private sector, academics and researchers.

Policy level

- Ensure the participation of organizations of persons with epilepsy in government decision-making as early as possible so that they can be involved in designing policies and services in a transparent and inclusive manner.
- Establish mechanisms for the inclusion of persons with epilepsy and their organizations in planning and managing services.
- Create sustained partnerships between civil society organizations, governmental bodies, scientific organizations and organizations of people with lived experience working on epilepsy, and increase international collaborations.
- Draft regulations on transparent engagement with the private sector and create consultative processes to maximize their strategic impact and constructive partnership.

Operational level

- Carry out stakeholder and relationship mapping of key stakeholders in epilepsy advocacy, diagnosis, treatment, research and support in order to understand their needs and preferences and plan activities for engagement and empowerment.
- Strengthen the capacity of organizations of people with epilepsy to tackle stigmatization and discrimination and to understand, promote and protect the human rights of people with Disabilities.
- Construct a road map for reducing stigmatization in epilepsy, plan campaigns for employers, educators, social workers and the general community to de-stigmatize epilepsy, and integrate tools and practices for reducing stigmatization into policies and plans.
- Survey attitudes and knowledge about epilepsy, nationally and locally, in order to prepare intended audience.
- Use social media to disseminate information, maximize reach and foster inclusion and engagement, particularly of young people.

Resources

- WHO Information Kit on Epilepsy (77)
- mhGAP Community Toolkit (78)
- Nothing for us, without us: opportunities for meaningful engagement of people living with NCDs (69)

with lived experience, in line with the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons

messages to fill knowledge gaps, and develop relevant communication materials for each

Engagement of community and other stakeholder: case study

Training teachers on epilepsy in India

An important part of improving diagnosis was improving the knowledge of teachers and health workers about epilepsy In India, a 3-year programme to determine the gap in treatment of epilepsy in children was funded by the Indian Council of Medical Research, Delhi. Records of the National Child Health Programme, in which mobile units screen for about 30 diseases and conditions in government-run schools, showed that the rate of diagnosis of epilepsy was below the statistical average. Because of strong stigmatization by communities, symptoms of epilepsy in children may be underreported by parents and teachers, and children with symptoms may not be allowed to attend school. An important part of improving diagnosis was therefore improving the knowledge of teachers and health workers about epilepsy.

A 1-day workshop with interactive lectures and role play was developed to provide information about the disorder, the educational needs of children with epilepsy, communication with parents, addressing stigmatization and giving first aid, including use of medicines. An overwhelming positive response from 250 teachers and health workers indicated a strong interest in learning about epilepsy. Furthermore, some of the trainees subsequently educated other teachers and students (79).

Models of care

This lever concerns models of quality, person-centered care for epilepsy in all sectors. A model of care is a conceptualization of how services should be delivered, including the processes of care, organization of providers, management of services and identified roles and responsibilities of different platforms and providers. Models of care should be attentive to the different needs of subgroups of people with epilepsy and their conceptualization should include the perspectives of people with epilepsy. Models of care should be defined in different sectors and across different services and should include management of co-morbid conditions, self-care and telehealth services.

Implementers

Service planners and managers in health, social, educational sectors, educators and trainers of professionals in these sectors, academics and researchers, employers, organizations of people with epilepsy and their families.

Policy level

- Review existing models of care and the connections between them both vertically (e.g., at different levels of the health system) and horizontally (e.g., between sectors), with the goal of updating them according to the best evidence available.
- Ensure that diagnosis, treatment and care for people with convulsive and non-convulsive epilepsy both for acute and chronic care are fully included in the universal health coverage package.
- Collaborate with people with epilepsy and create mechanisms to address their needs during different phases of the life-course.
- Introduce policies which support telemedicine and other technologies to expand access, reduce out-of-pocket and hidden costs, improve diagnosis and treatment and effectively manage comorbidity.
- Integrate prevention of epilepsy into all sectors, e.g., health, education, social support, law enforcement, sports, employment health and safety.

Operational level

- Develop and implement integrated models of care, from diagnosis to end-of-life in health and social sectors, use multidisciplinary team approach and emphasize communication among all levels of providers.
- Develop evidence-based models of care which include referral and back-referral and clear routes to access to services beyond primary care.
- Develop protocols for the integration of epilepsy care in the care for chronic noncommunicable diseases (e.g., hypertension and diabetes) as well as in emergency preparedness planning.
- Design and introduce training programs to address stigmatization and discrimination at all levels of the health and social sectors.
- Analyze the cost-effectiveness of models of care and ensure regional sharing of best practices and innovative approaches.
- Establish national helplines and websites with accessible information for self-care and for planning, accessing and organizing epilepsy care and services.
- Ensure unpaid carers, such as family, have adequate support, financial or in-kind, including training to strengthen their knowledge and skills in epilepsy management and thus increase efficacy of care.

Resources

- mhGAP operations manual (80)
- Mental health in primary care: illusion or inclusion? (81)
- "Fight against epilepsy" initiative in Ghana (64)
- Myanmar Epilepsy Initiative (65)
- Implementation of mhGAP in Mozambique: integrating epilepsy care into the primary health care system (82)

Models of care: case study

Epilepsy care in a health emergency: Ukraine

The war in Ukraine, which began in February 2022, has severely disrupted healthcare in many parts of the country, with infrastructural damage to facilities, logistical difficulties and a reduced supply of medicines. The ILAE Emergency Response (Ukraine) Task Force has attempted to maintain health services for people with epilepsy. A key consideration was to establish a foundation for accepting and distributing financial contributions. One of the first steps was a rapid survey to establish the requirements, types and proportions of antiseizure medicines used in the country in order to re-establish regular supplies with the help of donations. A logistics chain was put in place from a distribution hub in the western part of the country, with various channels of delivery, such as the Ukrainian Army and humanitarian convoys. Detailed information was gathered on where people with epilepsy could receive help abroad. Online consultations were organized with adult and pediatric epileptologists to fill the gaps in care, coordinated by the Task Force, which also helped to find sources of humanitarian aid and provide services to physicians and people with epilepsy remaining in Ukraine. Although a crisis response cannot replace a well-functioning health-care system, rapid action in a health emergency can preserve the health and lives of people (83).

Health-care workforce

This lever addresses the needs, competence, resourcing and distribution of health personnel, both those specialized in neurology and non-specialized health workers, for diagnosis, treatment, management and care of people with epilepsy. Structural, regulatory and operational actions are proposed that could be taken by policy-makers, managers, educators and planners to ensure staff availability, motivation and capacity-building. There is strong emphasis on training health workers to deliver care in the community and thus extend epilepsy services. Where resources are stretched, task-sharing models can be used to optimize the use of available workforce.

Implementers

Ministries of Health, educators of all cadres of health workers, public and private healthcare institutions, national and subnational level healthcare managers and service planners, health-care workers, development partners, civil society organizations.

Policy level

- Improve training of medical and allied health professionals in the diagnosis, treatment and management of convulsive and non-convulsive epilepsy, with appropriate job aids, and include people with epilepsy, their perspectives, views and preferences in developing training curricula.
- Clearly define the roles and responsibilities of general and specialized health- and social-care workers in epilepsy care to ensure optimal, efficient allocation of epilepsy-related tasks.
- Extend the role of primary health-care practitioners, providers and allied health professionals in diagnosing and managing epilepsy, especially in low-resource settings.
- Incentivize all health cadres to undertake education and training in neurology by creating accessible in-service qualification training and specialization, and incentivize work in underserved areas.
- Regulate and fund supervision and mentoring in epilepsy diagnosis and treatment for health providers in under-resourced settings.

Contd. on next page

• Include the mhGAP-IG module on epilepsy in the pre-service training curricula for healthcare providers, including nurses, doctors, pharmacists and other health workers.

Operational level

- Identify the relevant competences required for epilepsy diagnosis and management, and ensure its integration into pre-service education and in-service training curricula.
- Survey and identify gaps in the knowledge and attitudes of specialist and non-specialist health workers.
- Prepare and use training packages on epilepsy for various health-worker cadres with their participation; include validation of training, cascade models, refresher training and continuing education; and involve people with epilepsy and carers in training.
- Train community health workers, nurses, midwives, social workers and teachers to recognize and manage epilepsy, especially in LMIC.
- Involve practitioners of traditional and complementary medicine and faith healers in the diagnosis and treatment of epilepsy.
- Identify professionals who can detect and refer possible cases of epilepsy in all sectors, including psychologists, psychiatrists, educators and employment health medicine services, and train them in best practices.
- Support early-career professional and mentoring programmes in epilepsy for health workers.
- Build regional and international clinical networks to exchange expertise and provide support, particularly for cases of rare types of epilepsy.

Resources

- mhGAP-IG 2.0 (63)
- mhGAP training manuals (84)
- mhGAP-IG 2.0 App (e-mhGAP)

- Global strategy on human resources for health: Workforce 2030 (85)
- WHO guideline on health policy and system support to optimize community health worker programmes (86)

Health-care workforce: case study

Changing pediatric care for epilepsy through cascade training

In post-training surveys, 99% of attendees rated the course highly, while 85% report improved diagnosis skills Since 2005, the British Paediatric Neurology Association has been working to raise the quality of care for children with epilepsy by providing training on diagnosis and treatment. The Paediatric Epilepsy Training course is designed for all health professionals and covers treatment, referral and holistic care which includes the family. The 1-day courses are run by volunteer paediatric neurologists, paediatricians and epilepsy nurses. By 2014, more than 4500 people had attended a course, and the Association now organizes courses abroad on request.

In a cascade model, members of the British Paediatric Neurology Association visit the country, teach the course to local health professionals and mentor their training efforts. Currently, 13 countries on the five continents offer the course, and it has been translated into Portuguese and Spanish. In post-training surveys, 99% of attendees rated the course highly, while 85% report improved diagnosis skills. The curriculum for the course is reviewed internationally every 3 years and is found to work well, with only minor adaptations necessary according to setting (87).

Medicines and other health products

The focus of this lever is the availability and affordability of appropriate, safe, effective, quality medicines and other health products and therapies for the diagnosis and management of epilepsy. Actions emphasize use of evidence-based selection methods, including WHO's essential and priority lists, to guide procurement and reimbursement decisions for medicines and other health products.

Implementers

Ministries of Health, national regulatory authorities for medicines and other health products, supply chain planners and managers, economics and procurement specialists in healthcare, medicine manufacturers and distributors, facility managers and healthcare workers who can prescribe.

Policy level

- Develop and regularly update national essential medicines lists based on the local context and needs and aligned with WHO's model list of essential medicines.
- Ensure the availability of essential medicines at the three levels of health care.
- Develop reliable procurement, supply, storage and distribution systems for antiseizure medicine that minimize waste and stockouts, ban counterfeit and substandard products, and provide equitable access to the necessary medicines for all, including in emergencies and crises.
- Allocate budgets and resources to ensure procurement and supply of antiseizure medicines and subsidize medicines in universal health coverage benefits packages to ensure their affordability for people with epilepsy and their families.
- Develop national treatment guidelines based on the best available evidence on the efficacy, safety, quality and cost-effectiveness of antiseizure medicines and other health products.

Contd. on next page

- Strengthen health information systems to improve the traceability of medicines and collect data to better understand the demand of medicines within countries and regions.
- Continually renew, upgrade and maintain diagnostic and assistive infrastructure, particularly in low-resource settings.

Operational level

- Ensure the availability, access to and use of antiseizure medicines and appropriate diagnostic technology, train health care workers and technicians in their use, and improve infrastructure.
- Provide clear guidance on use of antiseizure medicines as well as on treatment of mental and physical comorbid conditions.
- Provide easy-to-understand information on the use of antiseizure medicines for people with epilepsy, including labelling in local languages, to encourage updating of and adherence to treatment.
- Ensure alert mechanisms and back-up procedures for supply to prevent stocks from being exhausted and undesirable changes in prescribed antiseizure medications.
- Include essential diagnostic technology for epilepsy in the range of neurology tools, such as electroencephalography and magnetic resonance imaging.
- Ensure access to a range of health interventions, including non-medicinal interventions (e.g., psychosocial treatment) to accompany medication-based treatment.

Resources

- WHO model list of essential medicines (88)
- Selection of essential medicines at country level. Using the WHO model list of essential medicines to update a national essential medicines list (89)

- WHO global model regulatory framework for medical devices including in vitro diagnostic medical devices (90)
- Improving access to and appropriate use of medicines for mental disorders (91)

Medicines and other health products: case study

Concerns over quality of antiseizure medicines in global survey

A global survey in 2019-2020 by the International League Against Epilepsy collected information on the barriers to use of generic antiseizure medication. Responses on questions about prescriptions, drug availability and regulation were received from 800 physicians. Responses to questions about regulatory control of drug quality differed substantially between those in high-income countries, where 79% confirmed extensive regulatory control, and those from low- and middle-income countries, where the same statement was made by 35% and 38% respectively. Thus, perception pointed to fewer regulations over generic medicines in lower-income countries and reduced the confidence of physicians in the quality of medication. The responders considered that more and unbiased training was necessary on generic antiseizure medicines, their production and their approval.

Over half of responders reported that their country's policies and laws did not allow a switch between brand and generic medications. The survey highlighted that substitution of medicines may be made when the prescription is fulfilled, so that physicians are unaware of the antiseizure medicines their patients are taking (92).

Monitoring and evaluation

This lever addresses monitoring and evaluation of epilepsy services and care in robust health information systems for collecting, generating and analysing reliable data to improve decisions and for local and national actors.

Implementers

Government agencies for public health and health-care data, health service planners and managers, academics and researchers.

Policy level

- Develop and strengthen health information systems to cover all health care, and collect data on indicators relevant to the diagnosis, treatment, management and care of people with epilepsy.
- Ensure clear understanding of the role of monitoring and evaluation in iterative improvement of epilepsy care and measurement of indicators.
- Use the results of monitoring and evaluation of epilepsy practices to revise policies.
- Plan for monitoring and evaluation cycles at minimum every 2 years and allocate appropriate human and financial resources.
- Facilitate multisectoral engagement and participation (for example communities, private sector, civil society groups and people with epilepsy and their families) when developing and implementing monitoring and evaluation systems.

Operational level

- Provide continuous training and support to the health-care workforce in monitoring and evaluation, with reliable protocols for data verification and analysis.
- Establish and measure meaningful indicators of the quality of health services and care for epilepsy.
- Include the perspectives of people with epilepsy and their families in all aspects of monitoring and evaluation.
- Routinely collect information on the diagnosis and management of epilepsy.
- Incorporate results of monitoring and evaluation into improving services for people with epilepsy.

Resources

- mhGAP operations manual (80)
- Primary health care measurement framework and indicators: monitoring health systems through a primary health care lens (93)
- Monitoring, evaluation and review of national health strategies: a country-led platform for information and accountability (94)
- Atlas: country resources for neurological disorders (18)

Monitoring and evaluation: case study

Reporting for the WHO Neurology Atlas

The 2017 edition of the WHO Neurology Atlas summarized information on 94% of the world population, representing 132 countries, one Associate Member of WHO and one territory. Data were collected from a questionnaire on resources and services for neurological disorders, and a list of specific disorders, including dementia, epilepsy, stroke, traumatic brain injury and multiple sclerosis. Ministries of Health were requested to assign focal points to complete the questionnaire; a guide and a glossary were provided to ensure standardization. Members of national neurological associations were also asked to complement the data. Data were collected in 2014 and 2015, aggregated and analyzed.

The WHO Neurology Atlas is a helpful resource when planning to improve deficits in neurological care nationally and globally. The data can be used to demonstrate levels of service and medication availability, as well as structural aspects such as financing and policy. The Atlas can be used for advocacy, monitoring, evaluation and measuring progress in improving care for people with neurological disorders *(18)*.

This lever refers to research and knowledge management on epilepsy, including dissemination of lessons learnt and use of the knowledge to scale up successful strategies for diagnosis, treatment and care. Optimal use of research funds and careful prioritization in a research agenda of the most urgent questions should be combined with capacitybuilding for researchers and expanding the scope and rigour of research methods to provide usable evidence.

Implementers

Government scientific and research authorities, research institutions and networks, academics and researchers, national service planners and managers, research funders.

Policy level

- Identify national research priorities and gaps in research on epilepsy.
- Raise the profile of epilepsy in research funding initiatives, fostering collaborations among governmental institutions, nongovernmental organizations and industry.
- Build paths for career development in epilepsy research for young professionals, particularly in LMIC.
- Create regulations and networks for private sector investment in research on epilepsy.
- Ensure all research is people-centred and that people with lived experience are involved at all stages.
- Create an enabling environment for research with a transparent and appropriate regulatory environment, sustainable funding, and ensure equity, diversity, and inclusiveness across all research activities.
- Ensure appropriate stringent ethics review and equity in all research on epilepsy.
- Use research evidence to inform the development and updating of epilepsy policy.

Operational level

- Assess levels of awareness of epilepsy, identify unmet needs, and understand the priorities of people with epilepsy.
- Involve and support people with epilepsy, their families and carers to participate actively the greatest impact.
- Foster research on the epidemiology, causes, co-morbidity, diagnosis, management and prevention of epilepsy throughout the life course.
- Support implementation research to inform the scaling-up of effective interventions and models in epilepsy care.
- Encourage interdisciplinary research on the social aspects of epilepsy, such as social inclusion, respect for human rights and relationships, and on the links between poverty
- Support research on innovation (e.g., digital tools and telemedicine) in epilepsy care in low-resource settings.
- Ensure communication of research results to relevant audiences and their application in management of epilepsy.

Resources

- Epilepsy: a public health imperative (11)
- A blueprint for dementia research (95)

in setting priorities and designing, planning, executing and evaluating research to ensure

and other social determinants of health and the health outcomes of people with epilepsy.

Research: case study

Epilepsy Pathway Innovation in Africa (EPInA)

The aim of the 5-year EPInA project, led by University of Oxford in collaboration with WHO, is to better understand and change management of epilepsy in Ghana, Kenya and the United Republic of Tanzania. The work includes prevention of epilepsy due to onchocerciasis and perinatal injury, improving the rate of accurate diagnosis of epilepsy by use of app-based technologies, increasing adherence to antiseizure medicines through text messaging and raising public awareness to reduce the stigmatization experienced by people with epilepsy. The project includes studies of care pathways and training health workers to apply the WHO mhGAP guidelines to diagnose and treat epilepsy in primary health care.

The field work in each country is performed by national teams of epileptologists and neurologists. EPInA provides valuable opportunities to doctoral candidates to advance research in their countries, including evaluation of the cost of care, drug metabolism, parasitology of epilepsy, ethnography, oral histories of people with epilepsy and prevalence rates in densely populated urban settlements. The results will be used to inform policy and practice on epilepsy in the three countries (*96*).

Systems for improving quality of care

This lever addresses continuous assessment and feedback at local, subnational and national levels to improve the quality of integrated services for epilepsy. Quality improvement is a shared responsibility of all those who deliver services, support and care and should be integral to planning.

Implementers

National, district and facility service planners and managers of health and social care, civil society organizations, organizations of people with epilepsy and their families.

Policy level

- Ensure review at a minimum of every 2 years of all policies on epilepsy (e.g., frameworks and packages of care and others), and incorporate global and local lessons learnt.
- Include cyclical evaluation of the knowledge and competencies of health-care personnel in order to improve the quality of epilepsy care.
- Improve regulations and the obligations and training of health-care providers to respect the choices of people with epilepsy.
- Ensure that a quality improvement cycle is person-centred and people with epilepsy are involved at all stages.
- Design effective systems for monitoring compliance with human rights standards from multiple sources of information, in consultation with people living with epilepsy.

Operational level

- Develop measures of the quality of care in epilepsy that are based on global standards and the local context; include qualitative assessment and support for better measurement techniques, instruments and methods.
- Evaluate epilepsy management and care, disease burden, comorbidity and the economic impact of epilepsy in the country to establish baselines for comparison.
- Ensure feedback from health workers to improve the health data management system by including their perspectives on ease of use.
- Assess the availability of care including multidisciplinary care at all levels of the health system, to ensure inclusion of people in all age groups, vulnerable populations and people with severe disability.
- Build capacity through online platforms, webinars and training to give skills to informal and providing carer relief.
- Institute mechanisms to enable people with epilepsy and their families to provide feedback on quality health services (e.g., through feedback forms) and incorporate the feedback in improvement efforts.

Resources:

- WHO Quality Toolkit (97)
- mhGAP operations manual (80)

carers and families, disseminate best practices, and provide platforms for sharing stories

Systems for improving quality of care: case study

Improving education on electroencephalography in Asia and Oceania

Electroencephalography (EEG) is important in diagnosis of epilepsy, but many countries do not have enough experienced technologists. Neurologists require additional training to interpret the results of an EEG to ensure they do not read it incorrectly and miss cases. In Asia, EEG technology is often available only in large cities and private facilities, incurring additional costs for people with epilepsy. To increase the knowledge of neurologists, the educational organization for ILAE-Asia and Oceania, ASEPA, is offering an EEG course throughout Asia for neurologists, psychiatrists, and EEG technologists, including trainees in these areas. A certification examination is offered at epilepsy conferences and ASEPA workshops, and those who pass both parts of the examination become certified encephalographers – that number was 311 as of June 2018. Although there are still gaps in the number of skilled EEG readers, the course is increasing the number of EEG technicians and interpreters in Asia and Oceania (98).

Digital technologies for health

This lever addresses regulation and use of digital technologies to improve the diagnosis, management and care of epilepsy by facilitating access to care and service delivery, improve effectiveness and efficiency and promote accountability while protecting privacy and empowering people with epilepsy, their families and carers.

Implementers

Policy-makers, health service planners and managers, technology developers for health services, civil society organizations providing support to people with epilepsy and their families, organizations of people with epilepsy and their families.

Policy level

- Establish policies to support integration of digital health services into diagnosis, treatment, care and self-care of epilepsy by identifying gaps in existing efforts that could be filled through new technologies.
- Create and facilitate platforms for collection of essential clinical and diagnostic data on epilepsy, including data obtained remotely.
- Create policies and mechanisms to ensure secure transfer and sharing of sensitive medical information for identification and diagnosis of epilepsy.
- Embed education, training, certification and continuing education for the use and accuracy of digital technologies for professionals working in epilepsy management, treatment and care, and involve people with epilepsy to ensure person-centred perspectives.
- Regulate the use of artificial intelligence in health care, particularly for epilepsy, to facilitate decision-making by non-specialists while protecting the privacy of individuals.

Operational level

- Enable access to evidence-based digital technologies for self-management of seizures and other needs in epilepsy, with medication regimens.
- Pilot-test and use where appropriate multi-channel telehealth platforms for accessible diagnostics and epilepsy management and care at all levels of health care, including digital tools for hard-to-reach populations.
- Establish a user-friendly digital system to manage digital and phone appointments for people with epilepsy.
- Maximize the use of digital tools for training and self-directed learning of health-care workers in diagnosis and treatment of epilepsy.
- Increase digital health literacy in people with epilepsy, their families and carers, and provide accessible information about epilepsy in local languages on digital platforms in diverse settings, including education, employment, sports and law enforcement.

Resources

- mhGAP-IG 2.0 App (e-mhGAP)
- WHO guideline: recommendations on digital interventions for health system strengthening (99)
- Global strategy on digital health 2020-2025 (100)

WHO Academy to offer mhGAP online courses

The courses will be designed for online access and the Academy platform will be available on desktop and mobile devices The WHO Academy, the learning centre of the World Health Organization, is planning to offer online and in-person training to millions of health workers around the world. Currently under development, the goals of the Academy are to ensure that health workers, policy makers and public health practitioners can access up-to-date personalized training when and where they need it. This will help countries to achieve the health targets of the Sustainable Development Goals.

mhGAP is the WHO programme for integrating mental, neurological and substance use conditions into primary care around the world, and training in this programme will also be offered at the WHO Academy. The courses will be designed for online access and the Academy platform will be available on desktop and mobile devices, in low-bandwidth settings and with downloadable, offline options. This will allow health workers anywhere in the world to learn, practice and maintain new competence for diagnosing and treating epilepsy, one of the conditions included in mhGAP (101).

References

- 1. Fisher RS, van Emde Boas W, Blume W, Elger C, Genton P, Lee P, Engel J Jr. Epileptic seizures and epilepsy: definitions proposed by the International League Against Epilepsy (ILAE) and the International Bureau for Epilepsy (IBE). Epilepsia. 2005;46:470-2. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.0013-9580.2005.66104.x
- 2. GBD 2016 Epilepsy Collaborators. Global, regional, and national burden of epilepsy, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet Neurol. 2019 Apr;18(4):357-375. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30454-X
- 3. GBD 2016 Neurology Collaborators. Global, regional, and national burden of neurological disorders, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet Neurol. 2019 May;18(5):459-480. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30499-X
- 4. India State-Level Disease Burden Initiative Neurological Disorders Collaborators. The burden of neurological disorders across the states of India: the Global Burden of Disease Study 1990-2019. Lancet Glob Health. 2021 Aug;9(8):e1129-e1144. https://doi. org/10.1016/S2214-109X(21)00164-9
- 5. Thurman DJ, Logroscino G, Beghi E, Hauser WA, Hesdorffer DC, Newton CR, Scorza FA, Sander JW, Tomson T; Epidemiology Commission of the International League Against Epilepsy. The burden of premature mortality of epilepsy in high-income countries: A systematic review from the Mortality Task Force of the International League Against Epilepsy. Epilepsia. 2017 Jan;58(1):17-26. https://doi.org/10.1111/ epi.13604
- 6. Levira F, Thurman DJ, Sander JW, Hauser WA, Hesdorffer DC, Masanja H, Odermatt P, Logroscino G, Newton CR; Epidemiology Commission of the International League Against Epilepsy. Premature mortality of epilepsy in low- and middle-income countries: A systematic review from the Mortality Task Force of the International League Against Epilepsy. Epilepsia. 2017 Jan;58(1):6-16. https://doi.org/10.1111/ epi.13603

- 7. Mesraoua B, Deleu D, Hassan AH, Gayane M, Lubna A, Ali MA, Tomson T, Khalil BA, Cross JH, Asadi-Pooya AA. Dramatic outcomes in epilepsy: depression, suicide, injuries, and mortality. Curr Med Res Opin. 2020 Sep;36(9):1473-1480. https://doi.org/10.1080/0300799 5.2020.1776234
- 8. Harden C, Tomson T, Gloss D, Buchhalter J, Cross JH, Donner E, French JA, Gil-Nagel A, Hesdorffer DC, Smithson WH, Spitz MC, Walczak TS, Sander JW, Ryvlin P. Practice guideline summary: Sudden unexpected death in epilepsy incidence rates and risk factors: Report of the Guideline Development, Dissemination, and Implementation Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology and the American Epilepsy Society. Neurology. 2017;88:1674-1680. https://doi. org/10.5698/1535-7511.17.3.180
- 9. Tellez-Zenteno JF, Patten SB, Jetté N, Williams J, Wiebe S. Psychiatric comorbidity in epilepsy: a population based analysis. Epilepsia. 2007 Dec;48(12):2336-44. Doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2007.01222.
- 10. Guekht A, Mizinova M, Ershov A, Guz D, Kaimovsky I, Messina P, Beghi E. In-hospital costs in patients with seizures and epilepsy after stroke. Epilepsia. 2015 Aug;56(8):1309-13. Doi: 10.1111/epi.13062.
- 11. World Health Organization. (2019). Epilepsy: a public health imperative. World Health Organization. https:// apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/325293. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 12. Megiddo I, Colson A, Chisholm D, Dua T, Nandi A, Laxminarayan R. Health and economic benefits of public financing of epilepsy treatment in India: An agent-based simulation model. Epilepsia. 2016;57:464-74. https://doi.org/10.1111/epi.13294
- 13. Thurman DJ, Begley CE, Carpio A, Helmers S, Hesdorffer DC, Mu J, Touré K, Parko KL, Newton CR. The primary prevention of epilepsy: A report of the Prevention Task Force of the International League Against Epilepsy. Epilepsia. 2018 May;59(5):905-914. https://doi.org/10.1111/epi.14068

- 14. World Health Organization and United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). (2020). Operational framework for primary health care: transforming vision into action. World Health Organization. https://apps. who.int/iris/handle/10665/337641. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 15. Meyer AC, Dua T, Ma J, Saxena S, Birbeck G. Global disparities in the epilepsy treatment gap: a systematic review. Bull World Health Organ. 2010;88:260-6. https://doi.org/10.2471/BLT.09.064147
- 16. Mbuba CK, Ngugi AK, Newton CR, Carter JA. The epilepsy treatment gap in developing countries: a systematic review of the magnitude, causes, and intervention strategies. Epilepsia. 2008;49:1491-503. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1528-1167.2008.01693.x
- 17. Braga P, Hosny H, Kakooza-Mwesige A, Rider F, Tripathi M, Guekht A. How to understand and address the cultural aspects and consequences of diagnosis of epilepsy, including stigma. Epileptic Disord. 2020 Oct 1;22(5):531-547. http://doi.org/10.1684/epd.2020.1201.
- 18. World Health Organization. (2017). Atlas: country resources for neurological disorders, 2nd ed. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/258947. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 19. Carter JA, Molyneux CS, MbubaCK, Jenkins J, Newton CR, Hartley SD. The reasons for the epilepsy treatment gap in Kilifi, Kenya: using formative research to identify interventions to improve adherence to antiepileptic drugs. Epilepsy Behav. 2012;2:614-21. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.yebeh.2012.07.009
- 20. Mbuba CK, Ngugi AK, Fegan G, Ibinda F, Muchohi SN, Nyundo C, Odhiambo R, Edwards T, Odermatt P, Carter JA, Newton CR. Risk factors associated with the epilepsy treatment gap in Kilifi, Kenya: a cross-sectional study. Lancet Neurol. 2012;11:688-96. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70155-2
- 21. Kaddumukasa M, Kaddumukasa MN, Buwembo W, et al. Epilepsy misconceptions and stigma reduction interventions in sub-Saharan Africa, a systematic review. Epilepsy and Behavior. 2018;85:21-27. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.yebeh.2018.04.014
- 22. Sanchez N, Kajumba M, Kalyegira J, et al. Stakeholder views of the practical and cultural barriers to epilepsy care in Uganda. Epilepsy and Behavior. 2021;114:107314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. yebeh.2020.107314

- 23. Kaddumukasa, M., Kaddumukasa, M., Matovu, S. et al. The frequency and precipitating factors for breakthrough seizures among patients with epilepsy in Uganda. BMC Neurol 13, 182 (2013). https://doi. org/10.1186/1471-2377-13-182
- 24. Cameron A, Bansal A, Dua T, Hill SR, Moshe SL, Mantel-Teeuwisse AK, Saxena S. Mapping the availability, price, and affordability of antiepileptic drugs in 46 countries. Epilepsia. 2012 Jun;53(6):962-9. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1528-1167.2012.03446.x
- 25. Gaitatzis A, Sisodiya SM, Sander JW. The somatic comorbidity of epilepsy: a weighty but often unrecognized burden. Epilepsia. 2012;53(8): 1282-93. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1528-1167.2012.03528.x
- 26. Keezer MR, Sisodiya SM, Sander JW. Comorbidities of epilepsy: current concepts and future perspectives. Lancet Neurol. 2016;15(1)106-115. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00225-2
- 27. Burton K, Rogathe J, Hunter E, et al. Behavioural comorbidity in Tanzanian children with epilepsy: a community-based case-control study: Epilepsy in Tanzanian Children. Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology. 2011;53(12):1135-1142. http://doi. org/10.1111/j.1469-8749.2011.04109.x
- 28. Nickels KC, Zaccariello MJ, Hamiwka LD, Wirrell EC. Cognitive and neurodevelopmental comorbidities in paediatric epilepsy. Nat Rev Neurol. 2016;12(8):465-476. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2016.98
- 29. Berrios GE. Epilepsy and insanity during the early 19th century. A conceptual history. Arch Neurol. 1984;41:978-81. https://jamanetwork.com/journals/ jamaneurology/article-abstract/583436
- 30. Kaur J, Paul BS, Goel P, Singh G. Educational achievement, employment, marriage, and driving in adults with childhood-onset epilepsy. Epilepsy Behav. 2019 Aug;97:149-153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. yebeh.2019.05.019
- 31. Kissani N, Balili K, Mesraoua B, Abdulla F, Bashar G, Al-Baradie R, Elsahli R, Ibrahim E, Al-Asmi A, Mounir N, Kishk NA, Harharah A, Abu Aliqa A, Honein A, Arabi M, Asadi-Pooya AA. Epilepsy and school in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region: The current situation, challenges, and solutions. Epilepsy Behav. 2020;112:107325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. yebeh.2020.107325
- 32. Gopinath M, Sarma PS, Thomas SV. Gender-specific psychosocial outcome for women with epilepsy. Epilepsy Behav. 2011 Jan;20(1):44-7. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.yebeh.2010.10.013

- 33. Jacoby A. Epilepsy and stigma: an update and critical review. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. 2008;8:339-44. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11910-008-0052-8
- 34. Herrmann LK, Welter E, Berg AT, Perzynski AT, Van Doren JR, Sajatovic M. Epilepsy misconceptions and stigma reduction: Current status in Western countries. Epilepsy Behav. 2016 Jul;60:165-173. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.yebeh.2016.04.003
- 35. Elafros MA, Gardiner JC, Sikazwe I, OkuliczJF, Paneth N, Chomba E, Birbeck GL. Evaluating layered stigma from comorbid HIV and epilepsy among Zambian adults. eNeurologicalSci. 2017 Dec 21;13:56-62. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ensci.2017.12.001
- 36. Komolafe MA, Sunmonu TA, Afolabi OT, et al. The social and economic impacts of epilepsy on women in Nigeria. Epilepsy and Behavior. 2012;24(1):97-101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yebeh.2011.11.019
- 37. Jacoby A. Stigma, epilepsy, and guality of life. Epilepsy and Behavior. 2002;3(6):10-20. Doi:10.1016/S1525-5050(02)00545-0
- 38. Tedrus GMAS, Pereira RB, Zoppi M. Epilepsy, stiqma, and family. Epilepsy and Behavior. 2018;78:265-268. Doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.2017.08.007
- 39. Yogarajah M, Mula M. Social cognition, psychiatric comorbidities, and quality of life in adults with epilepsy. Epilepsy Behav. 2019;100:106321. Doi: https://doi. org/10.1016/j.yebeh.2019.05.017
- 40. Tombini M, Assenza G, Quintiliani L, Ricci L, Lanzone J, Di Lazzaro V. Epilepsy and quality of life: what does really matter? Neurol Sci. 2021;42:3757-3765. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10072-020-04990-6
- 41. Kim M, Kim YS, Kim DH, Yang TW, Kwon OY. Major depressive disorder in epilepsy clinics: A metaanalysis. Epilepsy Behav. 2018;84:56-69. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.yebeh.2018.04.015
- 42. Rafael, F., Houinato, D., Nubukpo, P., Dubreuil, C.-M., Tran, D.S., Odermatt, P., Clément, J.-P., Weiss, M.G. and Preux, P.-M. (2010), Sociocultural and psychological features of perceived stigma reported by people with epilepsy in Benin. Epilepsia, 51: 1061-1068. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1528-1167.2009.02511.x
- 43. Wilmshurst IM, Guekht A, Secco M, Helen Cross J, Perucca E; Advocacy Task Force, Commission of Pediatrics, International League Against Epilepsy. Advocacy for children with epilepsy: Leveraging the WHA resolution Epilepsia Open. 2018 May 14;3(2):167-174.http://doi.org/10.1002/epi4.12220

- 44. Michaelis, R, Tang, V, Goldstein, LH, et al. Psychological treatments for adults and children with epilepsy: Evidence-based recommendations by the International League Against Epilepsy Psychology Task Force. Epilepsia. 2018; 59: 1282- 1302. https:// doi.org/10.1111/epi.14444
- 45. Boling W, Means M, Fletcher A. Quality of Life and Stigma in Epilepsy, Perspectives from Selected Regions of Asia and Sub-Saharan Africa. Brain Sciences. 2018; 8(4):59. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci8040059
- 46. Salas-Puig X, Iniesta M, Abraira L, Puig J; QUIN-GTC study group. Accidental injuries in patients with generalized tonic-clonic seizures. A multicenter, observational, cross-sectional study (QUIN-GTC study). Epilepsy Behav. 2019;92:135-139. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.yebeh.2018.10.043
- 47. Pickrell WO, Kerr MP. SUDEP and mortality in epilepsy: The role of routinely collected healthcare data, registries, and health inequalities. Epilepsy Behav. 2020;103:106453 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yebeh.2018.10.043
- 48. Annegers JF, Coan SP. SUDEP: overview of definitions and review of incidence data. Seizure. 1999;8:347-52. https://doi.org/10.1053/seiz.1999.0306
- 49. Bell GS, Gaitatzis A, Bell CL, Johnson AL, Sander JW. Suicide in people with epilepsy: how great is the risk? Epilepsia. 2009 Aug;50(8):1933-42. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1528-1167.2009.02106.x
- 50. Christensen J, Dreier JW, Sun Y, Linehan C, Tomson T, Marson A, Forsgren L, Granbichler CA, Trinka E, Illiescu C, Malmgren K, Kjellberg J, Ibsen R, Jennum PJ; ESBACE Consortium and ESBACE Collaborators. Estimates of epilepsy prevalence, psychiatric co-morbidity and cost. Seizure. 2022 Jun 23:S1059-1311(22)00144-3. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.seizure.2022.06.010.
- 51. Rainer LJ, Granbichler CA, Kobulashvili T, Kuchukhidze G, Rauscher C, Renz N, Langthaler PB, Braun M, Linehan C, Christensen J, Siebert U, Trinka E. Prevalence of comorbidities, and affective disorders in epilepsy: A latent class analysis approach. Epilepsy Res. 2022 May;182:106917. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. eplepsyres.2022.106917
- 52. Lhatoo SD, Sander JW. Cause-specific mortality in epilepsy. Epilepsia. 2005;46 Suppl 11:36-9. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1528-1167.2005.00406.x
- 53. Singh G, Pauranik A, Menon B, Paul BS, Selai C, Chowdhury D, Goel D, Srinivas HV, Vohra H, Duncan I, Khona K, Modi M, Mehndiratta MM, Kharbanda P, Goel P, Shah P, Bansal R, Addlakha R, Thomas S, Jain S, Shah U, Saxena VS, Sharma V, Nadkarni VV, Wakankar Y. The dilemma of arranged marriages in people with epilepsy. An expert group appraisal. Epilepsy Behav. 2016 Aug;61:242-247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. vebeh.2016.05.034

- 54. Szaflarski M. Social determinants of health in epilepsy. Epilepsy and Behavior. 2014 Dec 1;41:283-9. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.yebeh.2014.06.013
- 55. Fiest KM, Sauro KM, Wiebe S, Patten SB, Kwon CS, Dykeman J, Pringsheim T, Lorenzetti DL, Jetté N. Prevalence and incidence of epilepsy: a systematic review and meta-analysis of international studies. Neurology. 2017 Jan 17;88(3):296-303. https://doi. org/10.1212/WNL.000000000003509
- 56. Burneo JG, Jette N, Theodore W, Begley C, Parko K, Thurman DJ, et al. Disparities in epilepsy: report of a systematic review by the North American Commission of the International League Against Epilepsy. Epilepsia 2009;50(10):2285-95. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1528-1167.2009.02282.x
- 57. Elliott JO, Lu B, Shneker BF, Moore JL, McAuley JW. The impact of 'social determinants of health on epilepsy prevalence and reported medication use. Epilepsy Res 2009;84(2-3):135-45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. eplepsyres.2009.01.010
- 58. From global campaign to global commitment: The World Health Assembly's Resolution on epilepsy. Covanis A, Guekht A, Li S, Secco M, Shakir R, Perucca E.Epilepsia. 2015 Nov;56(11):1651-7. http://doi. org/10.1111/epi.13192
- 59. The ILAE/IBE/WHO Global Campaign against Epilepsy: Bringing Epilepsy "Out of the Shadows"- Edward H.Reynolds Epilepsy and Behavior Volume 1, Issue 4, August 2000, Pages S3-S8 https://doi.org/10.1006/ ebeh.2000.0104
- 60. Costello K, Greenwald BD. Update on Domestic Violence and Traumatic Brain Injury: A Narrative Review. Brain Sciences. 2022; 12(1):122. https://doi. org/10.3390/brainsci12010122
- 61. Balestrini, S., Arzimanoglou, A., Blümcke, I., Scheffer, I.E., Wiebe, S., Zelano, J. and Walker, M.C. (2021), The aetiologies of epilepsy. Epileptic Disorders, 23: 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1684/epd.2021.1255
- 62. World Health Organization. (2016). mhGAP intervention guide for mental, neurological and substance use disorders in non-specialized health settings: mental health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP), version 2.0. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/250239
- 63. Keynejad R, Spagnolo J, Thornicroft G. WHO mental health gap action programme (mhGAP) intervention guide: updated systematic review on evidence and impact. Evid Based Ment Health 2021 Apr 26;24(3):124-30. https://doi.org/10.1136/ ebmental-2021-300254.

- 64. Ministry of Health Ghana. "Fight against epilepsy" initiative in Ghana. (2018). https://www.afro.who.int/sites/ default/files/2018-11/WHO-Epilepsy-Ghana web.pdf
- 65. World Health Organization. Regional Office for South-East Asia. (2018). Myanmar epilepsy initiative: piloting the WHO programme on reducing the epilepsy treatment gap 2013-2017. World Health Organization. Regional Office for South-East Asia. https://apps.who. int/iris/handle/10665/276946
- 66. World Health Organization. (2022). Draft Intersectoral global action plan on epilepsy and other neurological disorders 2022-2031. https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/ pdf files/WHA75/A75 10Add4-en.pdf
- 67. World Health Organization. (2018). Towards a dementia plan: a WHO guide. World Health Organization. https:// apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/272642. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 68. Model Adoption Plan on the IGAP in Africa: the case of Eswatini - Webinar 16 [website]. Epilepsy Africa (https:// epilepsyafrica.org/watch-model-adoption-plan-onthe-igap-in-africa-the-case-of-eswatini-webinar-16/)
- 69. World Health Organization. (2021). Nothing for us, without us: opportunities for meaningful engagement of people living with NCDs: meeting report. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/340737. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 70. Volker N. The El Salvador ILAE chapter is building an epilepsy care infrastructure from scratch. What does that look like? Epigraph. 2022;24(1) (https://www. ilae.org/journals/epigraph/epigraph-vol-24-issue-1winter-2022/the-el-salvador-ilae-chapter-is-buildingan-epilepsy-care-infrastructure-from-scratch-whatdoes-that-look-like).
- 71. OneHealth Tool (website). Avenir Health (https:// avenirhealth.org/software-onehealth.php)
- 72. Sparkes, Susan, Durán, Antonio & Kutzin, Joseph. (2017). A system-wide approach to analysing efficiency across health programmes. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/254644. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 73. World Health Organization. (2022). UHC Compendium. Health Interventions for Universal Health Coverage (website). (https://www.who.int/universal-healthcoverage/compendium)

- World Health Organization. (2021). New costeffectiveness updates from WHO-CHOICE (website). (https://www.who.int/news-room/feature-stories/ detail/new-cost-effectiveness-updates-from-whochoice)
- 75. World Health Organization & United Nations Development Programme. (2021). Mental health investment case: a guidance note. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/340246. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 76. National Institute for Health and Care Research. Funding and awards (website). NIHR Funding and Awards (https://fundingawards.nihr.ac.uk/award/ NIHR200144)
- 77. World Health Organization. (2015). WHO information kit on epilepsy: what you can do. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/329999
- 78. World Health Organization. (2019). Field test version: mhGAP community toolkit: Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP). World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/328742. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 79. Volkers N. Epilepsy education in India: Teacher training project aims to address stigma, increase inclusion. Epigraph. 2022;24(2) (https://www.ilae.org/journals/ epigraph/epigraph-vol-24-issue-2-spring-2022/ epilepsy-education-in-india-teacher-training-projectaims-to-address-stigma-increase-inclusion).
- World Health Organization. (2018). mhGAP operations manual. World Health Organization. https://apps.who. int/iris/handle/10665/275386. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- World Health Organization. (2018). Mental health in primary care: illusion or inclusion?. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/326298. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- Dos Santos PF, Cumbe V, Gouveia ML, de Fouchier C, Teuwen D, Dua T. Implementation of mhGAP in Mozambique: integrating epilepsy care into the primary health care system. Int J Ment Health Syst. 2019 Dec;13(1):36. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13033-019-0296-5

- Bubenko A. Crisis response in Ukraine: Securing medication and care for people with epilepsy through national and international efforts. Epigraph. 2022;24(2) (https://www.ilae.org/journals/epigraph/epigraph-vol-24-issue-2-spring-2022/crisis-response-in-ukrainesecuring-medication-and-care-for-people-withepilepsy-through-national-and-international-efforts).
- 84. World Health Organization. (2017). mhGAP training manuals for the mhGAP intervention guide for mental, neurological and substance use disorders in nonspecialized health settings, version 2.0 (for field testing). World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/259161. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- World Health Organization. (2016). Global strategy on human resources for health: workforce 2030.
 World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/250368
- World Health Organization. (2018). WHO guideline on health policy and system support to optimize community health worker programmes. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/275474. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- PETitioning for change: One-day pediatric epilepsy training course becomes worldwide movement.
 Epigraph. 2018;20(1) (https://www.ilae.org/journals/ epigraph/epigraph-vol-20-issue-1-summer-2018/ petitioning-for-change-one-day-pediatric-epilepsytraining-course-becomes-worldwide-movement).
- World Health Organization. (2021). World Health Organization model list of essential medicines: 22nd list (2021). World Health Organization. https://apps. who.int/iris/handle/10665/345533. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 89. World Health Organization. (2020). Selection of essential medicines at country level: using the WHO model list of essential medicines to update a national essential medicines list. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330898. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- 90. World Health Organization. (2017). WHO global model regulatory framework for medical devices including in vitro diagnostic medical devices. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/255177. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO

- World Health Organization & Fundação Calouste Gulbenkian. (2017). Improving access to and appropriate use of medicines for mental disorders. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/254794. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- Niyongere, J, Welty, TE, Bell, MW, et al. Barriers to generic antiseizure medication use: Results of a global survey by the International League Against Epilepsy Generic Substitution Task Force. Epilepsia Open. 2022; 7: 260–270. https://doi.org/10.1002/epi4.12583
- 93. World Health Organization & United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). (2022). Primary health care measurement framework and indicators: monitoring health systems through a primary health care lens. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/352205. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- 94. International Health Partnership & World Health Organization. (2011). Monitoring, evaluation and review of national health strategies: a country-led platform for information and accountability. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/85877
- 95. World Health Organization. (2022). A blueprint for dementia research. World Health Organization. https:// apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/363341. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO

- 96. Epilepsy pathway innovation in Africa: Challenging epilepsy in sub-Saharan Africa. Oxford: University of Oxford; 2022 (https://epina.web.ox.ac.uk/home).
- 97. WHO Quality Toolkit (website). World Health Organization. https://qualityhealthservices.who.int/ quality-toolkit/qt-home
- Improving EEG education: Asian Epilepsy Academy raises the bar. Epigraph. 2018;20(2) (https://www. ilae.org/journals/epigraph/epigraph-vol-20-issue-2fall-2018/improving-eeg-education-asian-epilepsyacademy-raises-the-bar)
- 99. World Health Organization. (2019). WHO guideline: recommendations on digital interventions for health system strengthening. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/311941. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 100. World Health Organization. (2021). Global strategy on digital health 2020-2025. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/344249. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- 101. WHO Academy (website). World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/about/who-academy/approach

Annex

ANNEX 1.

Relevant international commitments made by adoption of World Health Assembly and United **Nations General Assembly resolutions**

- Global actions on epilepsy and other neurological disorders (2020) (1)
- Resolution to address the global burden of epilepsy (2015) (2)
- Strategy and plan of action on epilepsy for 2012–2021 (3)
- Comprehensive mental health action plan 2013–2030 (4)
- Global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol (2010) (5)
- Global action plan for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2013-2030 (6)
- UN political declaration on the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases (2018) (7)
- Follow-up to the political declaration of the high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases (8)
- A road map for neglected tropical diseases 2021-2030 (9)
- Defeating meningitis by 2030: a global road map (10)

- Newborn health action plan (11)
- Decade of action for road safety 2021-2030 (12)
- Access to essential medicines (2014) (13)
- Strengthening the role of the health system in addressing violence, in particular against women and girls, and against children (14)
- Global strategy on human resources for health: Workforce 2030 (2016) (15)
- Improving access to assistive technology (2018) (16)
- Rehabilitation 2030: a call for action initiative (17)
- Strengthening of palliative care as a component of comprehensive care throughout the life course (2014) (18)
- Global technical strategy for malaria 2016-2030 (19)
- World Health Assembly document A56/10 also addressed the control of neurocysticercosis, which is an important cause of epilepsy (20)

References

- 1. Global Actions on epilepsy and other neurological disorders (A73/A/CONF./2). Seventy-third World Health Assembly. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/343347).
- 2. Global burden of epilepsy and the need for coordinated action at the country level to address its health, social and public knowledge implications (WHA68.20). Sixty-eighth World Health Assembly. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://apps. who.int/iris/handle/10665/251923).
- 3. CD51.R8 (2011) Strategy and plan of action on epilepsy (resolution). Washington DC: Pan American Health Organization; 2011 (https://www.paho.org/en/ documents/cd51r8-2011-strategy-and-plan-actionepilepsy-resolution-0).
- 4. Comprehensive Mental Health Action Plan 2013-2030 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/345301).
- 5. Global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010 (https://apps. who.int/iris/handle/10665/3087).
- 6. Global action plan for the prevention and control of NCDs 2013–2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/94384).
- 7. Political declaration of the 3rd high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases: resolution / adopted by the General Assembly New York City (NY): United Nations; 2018 (https://digitallibrary.un.org/ record/1648984?ln=en).
- 8. Follow-up to the political declaration of the high-level meeting of the General Assembly on the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases (WHA66.10). Sixty-sixth World Health Assembly. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (https://apps.who.int/gb/ ebwha/pdf_files/WHA66/A66_R10-en.pdf?ua=1).
- 9. Ending the neglect to attain the Sustainable Development Goals. A road map for neglected tropical diseases 2021-2030. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/iris/rest/ bitstreams/1326801/retrieve).
- 10. Defeating meningitis by 2030. A global road map. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https:// apps.who.int/iris/rest/bitstreams/1352955/retrieve).

- 11. Newborn health action plan (WHA67.10). Sixtyseventh World Health Assembly. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/162848).
- 12. Decade of action for road safety 2021–2030. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://www.who. int/teams/social-determinants-of-health/safety-andmobility/decade-of-action-for-road-safety-2021-2030).
- 13. Access to essential medicines (WHA67.22). Sixtyseventh World Health Assembly. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/162868).
- 14. Strengthening the role of the health system in addressing violence, in particular against women and girls, and against children (WHA67/15). Sixtyseventh World Health Assembly. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/162855).
- 15. Global strategy on human resources for health: workforce 2031. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/252799).
- 16. Improving access to assistive technology (WHA 71.8). Seventy-first World Health Assembly. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/279511).
- 17. Rehabilitation 2031 initiative. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://www.who.int/initiatives/ rehabilitation-2030).
- 18. Strengthening of palliative care as a component of comprehensive care throughout the life course (WHA 67.19). Sixty-seventh World Health Assembly. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (https://apps.who.int/ iris/handle/10665/162863).
- 19. Global technical strategy for malaria 2016–2030, 2021 update. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/342995).
- 20. Control of neurocysticercosis: report by the Secretariat (WHA56.10). Fifty-sixth World Health Assembly; 2003. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2003 (https:// apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/78210)

For more information please contact:

Brain Health Unit Department of Mental Health and Substance Use

World Health Organization Avenue Appia 20 CH-1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

Email: brainhealth@who.int **Website:** https://www.who.int/health-topics/brain-health

